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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PANAMA CITY DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
v. 
 
MARGO DEAL ANDERSON, et al., 
 

Defendants. 
 
_______________________________/ 

  
 
Case No. 5:20cr28-MW/MJF 
 
 

 
GOVERNMENT’S CONSOLIDATED  

RESPONSE TO PENDING DEFENSE MOTIONS  
 

This is a public-corruption case. Defendants have filed several motions. The 

government respectfully submits this consolidated response.  

First, Defendant Margo Anderson seeks to keep the indictment from the jury 

or to have purported surplusage stricken. ECF 48. This Court should deny that 

motion because Defendant Anderson has not met the “exacting” standard to 

demonstrate that the allegations clearly are not relevant to the charges and are 

inflammatory and prejudicial.  

Second, Defendant Joseph Albritton seeks to dismiss certain counts as 

multiplicious. ECF 50. This Court should deny that motion because traditional wire 

fraud counts and honest services fraud counts are not multiplicious. The offenses 

are properly charged separately inasmuch as honest services charges require proof 
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of an additional fact beyond a reasonable doubt that traditional wire fraud counts do 

not; that there was a deprivation of honest services through a bribe or a kickback. 

Traditional wire fraud charges require proof of a fact that honest services charges 

do not; that there was a scheme to defraud involving money or property other than 

the intangible right of honest services.  

Third, Defendant Anderson seeks to dismiss two counts, contending that there 

are not sufficient facts alleged. With regard to Count 63, the indictment gives clear 

notice of the substance of the false-statement charge. With regard to Count 29, it 

inadvertently omits an express incorporation of earlier allegations. The government 

recognizes the notice issue raised by the motion and intends to seek correction of it 

through presentation of a superseding indictment within the next 30 days. 

Finally, both Defendants seek specific discovery of FD-302 reports regarding 

co-conspirator statements relevant to the allegations against them and Brady or 

Jencks material that includes their own statements or that of their co-conspirators. 

ECF 51 and 52. Additionally, Defendant Anderson seeks to compel the government 

to not merely produce, but to specifically identify material as Brady. This Court 

should deny these motions because Defendants are not entitled to the relief sought.  

BACKGROUND 

 On August 18, 2020, a federal grand jury sitting in this District returned a 

sixty-four count indictment charging Defendants with the following: 
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 conspiracy to commit wire fraud and honest services fraud, in  
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Count 1); 

 traditional wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 2 
(Counts 2-28); 

 federal program fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§666(a)(1)(A) 
and 2 (Count 29);  

 honest services wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1343, 1346, 
and 2 (Counts 30 through 62); 

 making false statements, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1001(a)(2) 
(Count 63);1 

 mail fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341 and 2 (Count 64);2 

 The fifty-two page indictment sets out in considerable detail and in plain 

English the manner in which Defendants conspired to commit and did commit the 

above offenses. The indictment alleges that Defendants and other persons conspired 

to (1) devise a scheme to defraud and for obtaining money or property by means of 

false statements, by the use of wire communications to execute the scheme; and (2) 

devise a scheme to defraud Lynn Haven and its citizens of their right to honest 

services of Defendants, as Mayor and City Attorney, through bribery or kickbacks, 

by the use of wire communications to execute the scheme. Defendants and 

conspirators used the public official positions of Defendant Anderson as Mayor and  

Defendant Albritton as City Attorney of Lynn Haven, Florida, “to offer, give, solicit 

                                                            
1 Defendant Anderson only. 
 
2 Defendant Albritton only.  
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receive, agree to accept, and accept things of value from companies and individuals 

having business interests in Lynn Haven,” “with the intent that they would be 

influenced in the performance of official acts.” ECF 1 at 10, ¶1. 

The indictment’s Manner and Means section of Count 1 provides a detailed 

account of how the schemes were executed. The “ECS Fraudulent Invoices” section, 

ECF 1 at 11-16, describes the submission to Lynn Haven of fraudulent invoices by 

conspirator D. White concerning claimed post-hurricane services provided by ECS. 

These fraudulent invoices included the requests of Defendants and conspirator City 

Manager M. White that ECS  provide debris removal and repairs to Defendant 

Anderson’s personal residence and the private residences of her mother and a 

neighbor; the personal residences of Defendant Albritton and his girlfriend; and the 

personal residence and farm of conspirator M. White. These services for Defendant 

Anderson were valued at approximately $48,000, and for Defendant Albritton 

valued at approximately $25,000. However, these services were billed by ECS to, 

and paid by, Lynn Haven in invoices that falsely claimed services were provided for 

public areas in Lynn Haven. ECF 1 at 12-17. 

             The “ECS Trash Pick-Ups” section, ECF 1 at 17-22, describes ECS services 

for trash pick-up in Lynn Haven after the expiration of the post-hurricane 

emergency, and the solicitation of, and receipt of, cash payments by conspirator D. 

White to Defendant Albritton from Lynn Haven’s payment of money to ECS based 
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upon false trash pick-up invoices. Additionally, Defendants agreed to have the trash 

pick-up order removed from the agenda for the next City Commission meeting.  ECF 

1 at 18.  

          The “Disposal of Vegetative Debris or Chips” and “Disaster Debris 

Management Site” sections, ECF 1 at 22-27, describe the activities of Defendants 

relating to the disposal of vegetative and disaster debris after the hurricane. The 

indictment alleges that Defendant Anderson halted progress on plans to permit a 

city-owned site for disposal of vegetative debris, and instead told the City Manager 

to use a privately owned company (Company B) for vegetative debris disposal, 

resulting in Lynn Haven paying disposal fees in excess of $2 million to Company B.  

           The “17th Street Projects and ½ Cent Surtax Design/Build Contract” section, 

ECF 1 at 27-34, provides details concerning Defendant Anderson’s efforts between 

2015 and 2018 assisting Company B to obtain multiple other multi-million dollar 

contracts with the city of Lynn Haven. In return, the indictment charges the 

Defendant Anderson with accepting things of value from the owner of Company B, 

including travel in a private airplane, lodging aboard a private yacht, meals and 

entertainment, and the receipt of a $106,000 motorhome from Company B in 

February 2018.       

 The indictment also alleges in the “World Claim Insurance” section, ECF 1 at 

34-37, that after the hurricane, six days before Declaration of Emergency ended, 

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 55   Filed 01/12/21   Page 5 of 33



6 
 

Defendant Anderson and M. White signed a contract retaining WorldClaim to assist 

in the adjustment of Lynn Haven’s claim under a primary insurance policy with 

respect to losses that occurred due to Hurricane Michael. The contract obligated 

Lynn Haven to pay a sliding fee scale from 3 to 10% of net recovery between $0 and 

$60 million. Evidence at trial will show that subsequent claims of Lynn Haven 

totaled approximately $29 million, incurring a significant financial obligation for the 

City. The contract was entered into without any request for bids or qualifications. At 

the time that this contract was signed by Defendant Anderson and conspirator M. 

White, WorldClaim had agreed to assist and act as the adjuster for Defendant 

Anderson, conspirator M. White, and a Lynn Haven City Commissioner, all public 

officials, in their private insurance hurricane claims and that they would be charged 

no fee. WorldClaim subsequently handled the private insurance claims for hurricane 

damage for Defendant Anderson and the two public officials. M. White and the Lynn 

Haven Commissioner paid no fee. Defendant Anderson paid a reduced fee.  

 In the final paragraph of the Manner and Means section of the conspiracy 

count, the indictment alleges that the conspirators committed acts and made 

statements to hide and conceal the purpose of the conspiracy and the acts committed 

in furtherance thereof. ECF 1 at 38. The four previous paragraphs (¶¶64-67) describe 

specific acts committed by Defendants and a conspirator (the owner of Company B) 

as part of the efforts of the conspirators to hide and conceal the conspiracy, including 
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failure to file required Florida quarterly gift disclosures for gifts accepted valued at 

more than $100. ECF 1 at 37-38, false statements by a conspirator, owner of 

Company B, to the FBI concerning the transfer of the 2006 ITAS motorhome to 

Defendant Anderson and her husband, and a false bill of sale provided to the FBI 

relating to the motorhome by the owner of Company B. ECF 1 at 38.   

 The indictment proceeds to charge the substantive counts of wire fraud, 

federal-program fraud, honest services wire fraud, mail fraud, and making false 

statements.  The wire and mail fraud counts list a specific wire or mailing for each 

count. 

ARGUMENT 

I. None of the challenged allegations in the indictment should be stricken 
or kept from the jury. 
 

Defendant Anderson has moved (in the alternative), under Federal Rule of 

Criminal Procedure 7(d), to strike as surplusage some factual allegations in the 

indictment. Specifically, Defendant Anderson complains about the indictment’s 

references to: 

 Her role as the Mayor of the City of Lynn Haven relating to the operation of 
the City, ECF 1 at 1 ¶1; 
  

 Language concerning her “knowledge and concurrence” in the entering of 
relevant contracts and activities described in the indictment, ECF 1 at 5-6 
¶¶13-14.  

 Language concerning her role in the solicitation of bids for construction 
services for a city project, ECF 1 at 30-21 ¶52; 

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 55   Filed 01/12/21   Page 7 of 33



8 
 

 Language relating to the defendant acted with or for “other” companies or 
persons that “included” specific actions, ECF 1 at 11 ¶2; 13 ¶10; 14 ¶14; 17 
¶19; 24 ¶34; 27 ¶41; 34 ¶57; 

 Language relating to bid-rigging and concealment involving Company B 
(whose owner is a conspirator), ECF 1 at 31 ¶¶53, 54;  

 Failure of Defendant Anderson, a public official, to disclose her receipt of 
gifts as required by Florida law between 2015 and 2020, ECF 1 at 37 ¶64; 

 Defendant Anderson directing Lynn Haven employees to provide various 
city records to her that she provided to Company B relating to ongoing and 
planned Lynn Haven projects, ECF 1 at 38 ¶66; and 

 That a conspirator (the owner of Company B) made false statements to a 
federal agent relating to the $106,000 motor home that was purchased for 
Defendant Anderson by the conspirator, ECF 1 at 38 ¶67. 

See ECF 48 at 7–12. 

 The Court should deny all of these requests. A motion to strike surplusage 

should not be granted “unless it is clear that the allegations are not relevant to the 

charge and are inflammatory and prejudicial . . . . [T]his is a most exacting 

standard.” United States v. Huppert, 917 F.2d 507, 511 (11th Cir. 1990) (internal 

quotation marks omitted) (citing 1 Charles A. Wright, Fed. Practice and Proc. §127 

at 424–29 (1982)); United States v. Awan, 966 F.2d 1415, 1426 (11th Cir. 1992). 

“Logic demands the conjunctive standard: information that is prejudicial, yet 

relevant to the indictment, must be included for any future conviction to stand and 

information that is irrelevant need not be struck if there is no evidence that the 

defendant was prejudiced by its inclusion.” United States v. Hedgepeth, 434 F.3d 

609, 612–613 (3d Cir. 2006). “It is important to note that Rule 7(d) is strictly 
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construed against striking surplusage.” United States v. Williams, No. 9:07cr-80179-

DTK, 2008 WL 4867748, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 10, 2008).   

In United States v. Delgado, No. 2:17-cr-511-WKW, 2018 WL 3029282 

(M.D. Ala. April 20, 2018), the Court rejected a motion to strike surplusage and 

noted that the motion focused on the prejudicial nature of the statements the 

defendant wanted stricken. Id. at *5. The court cited to the Williams decision, stating 

“But ‘[a]ll admissible evidence is prejudicial. The real question is whether the use 

of the words [in question is] unfairly prejudicial to a particular defendant.” Id. 

(emphasis added).  

If the language contained in an indictment or information specifies facts which 

the government seeks properly to prove at trial such language cannot be considered 

surplusage, no matter how prejudicial it may be, provided it is relevant. United States 

v. Lov-lt Creamery, Inc., 704 F. Supp. 1532, 1551 (E.D. Wis. 1989).3 If the allegation 

is admissible and relevant to the charge, then regardless of how prejudicial, the court 

should not strike the language. United States v. Crinel, No. 15-61, 2016 WL 

3877976, at *8 (E.D. La. July 18, 2016). Also, “surplusage in an indictment may 

                                                            

 3  The relevance inquiry under Rule 7(d) is no different than the evidentiary standard under 
Federal Rule of Evidence 401, and thus asks whether a fact has “any tendency to make the 
existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or 
less probable than it would be without the evidence.” See United States v. Mitchell, No. 3:14-CR-
306-MHT-WC, 2015 WL 2095778, at *2 (M.D. Ala. May 4, 2015) (quoting Rule 401 in denying 
a motion to strike under Rule 7(d)).  
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generally be disregarded where the charge is not materially broadened and the 

accused is not misled.” Id. 

 None of the above-listed allegations raised by Defendant Anderson as 

surplusage approach this “exacting” standard.  Indeed, Defendant Anderson has not 

met her burden of showing the challenged language is irrelevant, inflammatory, and 

prejudicial. All of the facts labeled by Defendant Anderson as surplusage are plainly 

relevant and none of them are inflammatory or unduly prejudicial.   

Regarding the first three allegations listed above, claiming a misstatement of 

law, the government acknowledges that the charter for the City of Lynn Haven lists 

the operational plan as a Commission-Manager plan. However, the evidence at trial 

will show that Defendant Anderson acted as the de facto head of the City of Lynn 

Haven, and, as described throughout the indictment, acted as a supervisor of the City 

Manager, directing him to do, and not to do, specific acts. See ECF 1 at 12 ¶6, 24-

25 ¶¶35-36; 26 ¶¶38-40; 29 ¶¶46-47; 30 ¶¶50-51; 33 ¶56; cf. Willingham v. City of 

Valparaiso Fla., 638 F. App’x 903, 907 (11th Cir. 2016) (holding procedures to 

review a mayor’s decision which were “theoretically available on paper” were not 

meaningful where the record showed the mayor “sabotaged the entire process” of 

the review of his own decision).  

Witnesses will testify at trial that Defendant Anderson ran the City, and that 

she made statements to various persons that she, and not M. White, ran the City. She 
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directed the City Manager to fire several Lynn Haven employees, and threatened to 

have the City Manager fired by the City Commission if he did not do as she directed.4 

Contrary to her claims, during the emergency period after the hurricane, she was 

specifically provided the authority to run the operations of the City or to delegate 

some duties, which she did to the City Manager. ECF 1 3-4 ¶¶8-9. Further, 

Defendant Anderson monitored all checks issued by Lynn Haven on a regular basis. 

ECF 1 at 15 ¶15, and authorized the City Manager to issue a handwritten check in 

the amount of $224,722.75 to ECS a day after the emergency contract was executed 

with ECS for debris removal and repairs. ECF 1 at 15-16 ¶16. Similarly, the alleged 

misstatement of law concerning the bids described in ECF 1 at 30-31 ¶52 again 

shows her active role in overseeing and causing the described bid solicitations for 

the 17th Street project, and ultimately Company B’s selection. She directed the City 

Manager that the money to be paid by Lynn Haven to Company B for the additional 

work would be added to the Company B promissory note.  

It is clear that the claimed “prejudicial misstatements of law” are factual 

allegations articulating Defendant Anderson’s daily control and supervision of all 

activities in Lynn Haven of the City Manager and other employees. The complaint 

of paragraphs that allege that Defendant Anderson had knowledge of, or concurred, 

                                                            
4 The former City Manager will testify at trial concerning Defendant Anderson’s demand 

in 2017 that the City Manager fire the Chief of Police so she could replace him with someone 
else that she wanted. The City Manager did so.  
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in specific acts, contracts, and activities are not misrepresentations of law, but 

allegations of facts that demonstrate Defendant Anderson’s involvement in the 

conspiracy and schemes to defraud. None of those allegations are prejudicial, 

irrelevant, or immaterial to the charges.  

Defendant Anderson’s reliance on United States v. Singhal, 876 F. Supp. 2d 

82 (D.D.C. 2012), and United States v. Jardin, No. C.R.A. 04-219, 2004 WL 

2314511 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 8, 2004), is misplaced. In Singhal, the court struck some 

allegations in the indictment, since it was based on corporate disclosure issues 

concerning the relationships among the corporate entities and the defendants. There, 

the indictment had conflated a public, wholly owned affiliate with its parent non-

public parent corporation. Singhal, 876 F. Supp. 2d at 102. Those facts are quite 

different than the facts of the instant indictment.  In Jardin, the court noted that the 

standard for striking surplusage followed by several district courts in the Third 

Circuit (“irrelevant or prejudicial standard”) was different than the Eleventh Circuit, 

which required that the surplusage must be both prejudicial and irrelevant to the 

offense charged. 2004 WL 2314511, at *2. Importantly, the surplusage ordered 

stricken in the Jardin case was a one-page “Notice of Additional Factors” section 

that involved sentencing guidelines issues – intended loss amount, number of victims 

defrauded, and managerial role of one of the defendants. These factors all referenced 
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the specific sentencing guidelines sections. Jardin does not support striking the 

relevant allegations from the indictment in this case.  

 Regarding the fourth allegation listed above concerning seven paragraphs and 

the use of language relating to “other” companies or individuals, or actions included 

specific actions, Defendant Anderson has not shown that these allegations are not 

relevant to the charges and are inflammatory and prejudicial. Indeed, all of the 

paragraphs complained of are clearly relevant to the charges in the indictment and 

are not inflammatory or prejudicial. The indictment charges a conspiracy between 

the two charged Defendants together with other conspirators. The government has 

provided in discovery to Defendants in this case the names, plea documents, and 

proffer letters relating to five conspirators. Further, Defendants in this case have 

additionally received various discovery related to the owners of Company A and 

Company B, uncharged co-conspirators. 

The cases relied upon by Defendant Anderson to support her contention that 

the seven paragraphs should be stricken as surplusage do not support her claims. The 

case United States v. Alsugair, 256 F. Supp. 2d 306, 317 (D.N.J. 2003), concerning 

references to “and others” is no longer good law in light of the decision in United 

States v. Hedgepath, 434 F.3d 609, 612 (3rd Cir. 2006), as the court recognized in 

United States v. Stock, No. 11-182, 2012 WL 202761 (W.D. Pa. Jan. 23, 2012). 

“While the Court in Alsugair granted the defendant’s motion to strike the phrase 
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‘and others’ from the indictment in that case, it applied a disjunctive test to determine 

if the language should be stricken under Rule 7(d), i.e., if the language was not 

relevant or contained inflammatory or prejudicial matter.” Id. at *13. The district 

judge in Alsugair granted the motion to strike “and others” after finding the language 

prejudiced the defendant, without any analysis of whether the challenged language 

was relevant. Stock, 2012 WL 202761 at *13. Similarly, following the test 

announced by the Third Circuit in Hedgepeth, another district court summarily 

denied a motion to strike the phrase “among others” from an indictment due to the 

exacting standard to strike surplusage from the indictment had not been met. See 

United States v. Robinson, 2007 WL 790013, at *4 (M.D. Pa. Mar. 14, 2007).  

Another case cited by Defendant Anderson, United States v. Meeks, No. 

1:19cr378, 2020 WL 2218953 (S.D Ind. May 7, 2020) is equally unpersuasive. In 

that case, the striking as surplusage from an indictment involved the term “among 

other things,” a term that is not used in the indictment in this case. Further, the district 

judge in Meeks was concerned that the documents that contained the charged false 

and misleading information were lengthy and technical, and was concerned about 

the jury misunderstanding the charges involving the false information. The facts in 

the Meeks case are not similar to the facts in the indictment in this case.  

Regarding the fifth allegation listed above concerning language relating to 

bid-rigging and concealment is without merit. The paragraphs charging the bid-

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 55   Filed 01/12/21   Page 14 of 33



15 
 

rigging directly relate to Defendant Anderson’s continuing efforts to provide 

continuing contract awards to the owner of Company B from Lynn Haven. This bid 

process was required by the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT), who had 

partnered with Lynn Haven to complete a project, despite Defendant Anderson’s 

request to FDOT to let Lynn Haven continue with Company B as a sole source 

contractor. These paragraphs are relevant to the charges as they are acts of the 

charged conspiracy and part of Defendant Anderson’s continuing efforts to steer 

Lynn Haven work to Company B, from whom she received a stream of benefits.  

As indicated above, these paragraphs also show Defendant Anderson’s active 

role in overseeing and causing the described bid solicitations for the 17th Street 

project, and ultimately Company B’s selection. She directed the City Manager that 

the money to be paid by Lynn Haven to Company B for the additional work would 

be added to the Company B promissory note. 

Defendant Anderson’s reliance on United States v. Pendleton, No. CA 16-41, 

2017 WL 1399571 (E.D. La. Apr. 19, 2017), in support of striking these two 

paragraphs is misplaced. In Pendleton, a drug and money laundering case, the 

district judge struck as surplusage an allegation that the defendant filed false tax 

returns that did not report his unexplained cash, holding that the defendant was not 

charged with tax fraud and this information was not relevant to the charges. Id. at 

*2. However, the district court agreed that a motion to strike surplusage should be 
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granted only if it is clear that the allegations are not relevant to the charge and are 

inflammatory and prejudicial. Id., at *1.  Further, the court in Pendleton noted that 

surplusage need not be stricken where the charge is not materially broadened and 

the accused is not misled. Id. Here the two paragraphs are not surplusage; they are 

relevant to the charges, and are part of the charged conspiracy. 

The seventh allegation of claimed surplusage is the paragraph that alleges that 

Defendant Anderson, during her tenure as Mayor of Lynn Haven, failed to report the 

receipt of any gifts in excess of $100 as required by Florida law. Defendant 

Albritton, the Lynn Haven City Attorney, is similarly alleged to have failed to report 

any gifts that he received. ECF 1 at 37-38 ¶65. The failure to report the receipt of 

numerous gifts from the owner of Company B is very relevant to Defendant 

Anderson’s intent with respect to accepting bribes from the owner of Company B in 

connection with official acts performed by Defendant Anderson on behalf of 

Company B. Additionally, the failure to report any gifts as required by Florida law 

is an act that Defendant Anderson performed to hide and conceal the purpose of the 

conspiracy and the acts committed in furtherance thereof, as charged in the 

Indictment. ECF 1 at 38 ¶68.   

The case relied upon by Defendant Anderson to support striking this 

information, United States  v. Reed, No. 15-100, 2016 WL 54903 (E.D. La. Jan 5, 

2016), is clearly distinguishable. There the court found certain paragraphs in the 
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indictment were prejudicial surplusage unrelated to the offenses with which the 

defendant was charged. “These paragraphs effectively allege violations of Title 18, 

U.S.C. § 1346, “Honest Services Fraud,” and Louisiana Election Code Campaign 

finance disclosure regulations, which are not offenses charged in the indictment…” 

Id. at *2 (emphasis supplied). In her motion, ECF 48 at 10, Defendant Anderson 

included the previous quotation from Reed, but importantly omitted the district 

court’s reference to the defendant in that case not being charged with honest services 

fraud, which was the basis for striking the challenged language. See Crinel, 2016 

WL 3877976 at *9 (“Reed however is distinguishable from this case. In Reed, the 

court concluded that certain paragraphs in the indictment were “prejudicial 

surplusage unrelated to the offenses with which Walter Reed (was) charged.”). 

Defendant Anderson is charged with conspiracy to commit, and numerous 

substantive counts of, honest services fraud. Clearly, the allegation concerning the 

failure to file the receipt of gift reports with the State of Florida is relevant to the 

honest services fraud charged in this case and not surplusage.       

Finally, Defendant Anderson complains about the allegations in ¶¶66 and 67 

(ECF 1 at 37) of the manner and means section of Count One of the indictment. The 

allegation in ¶66 relates to Defendant Anderson directing Lynn Haven employees to 

provide various city records to her that she then provided to Company B relating to 

ongoing and planned Lynn Haven projects. This paragraph describes actions of 
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Defendant Anderson that is part of, and relevant to, the conspiracy. Defendant 

Anderson obtaining various Lynn Haven records relating to various projects and 

providing these documents to the owner of Company B, from whom she is receiving 

a stream of benefits (bribes) relating to her official acts on behalf of the owner of 

Company B, is clearly relevant.  

Similarly, the allegation in ¶67 relating to a conspirator (the owner of 

Company B) making false statements to a federal agent and providing a false bill of 

sale concerning the $106,000 motor home that was purchased for Defendant 

Anderson by the conspirator is relevant to the honest services fraud conspiracy and 

substantive counts. This allegation is not surplusage and is clearly relevant to the 

conspiracy, the charged honest services fraud, and the receipt of the motorhome as 

a bribe by the defendant from the owner of Company B. Indeed, the statements of a 

conspirator which serve a necessary part of a conspiracy by concealing it or 

impeding an investigation are admissible statements made during and in furtherance 

of the conspiracy. United States v. Blakey, 960 F.2d 996, 998 (11th Cir. 1992); 

United States v. Griggs, 735 F.2d 1318, 1325 (11th Cir. 1984); F.R.E 801(d)(2)(E).    

II. The traditional wire fraud counts are not multiplicious. 

The indictment charges Defendant Albritton with 27 counts of traditional wire 

fraud and 33 counts of honest services fraud, which admittedly have overlapping 

facts. For example, Count 2 charges Defendants with traditional wire fraud—a 
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scheme to defraud the City of money and property—relating to an October 27, 2017, 

wire communication for the ½ cent sales tax allegations in paragraphs 42 through 

57. Concerning this same wire communication, Count 32 charges that Defendants 

engaged in a scheme to defraud the City of Lynn Haven and its citizens of their right 

to the honest services of Defendants as public officials through bribery or kickbacks. 

Defendant Albritton contends that traditional wire fraud Counts 2, 4, 5-15, and 17-

28, should be dismissed as multiplicious. 

An indictment is multiplicious if it charges a single offense in more than one 

count. See United States v. Sirang, 70 F.3d 588 (11th Cir. 1995). “When the 

government charges a defendant in multiplicious counts, two vices may arise. First, 

the defendant may receive multiple sentences for the same offense. Second, a 

multiplicious indictment may improperly prejudice a jury by suggesting that a 

defendant has committed several crimes—not one.” United States v. Langford, 946 

F.2d 798, 802 (11th Cir. 1991).  

The double jeopardy test set out in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 

299 (1932), is used to determine whether two counts are multiplicious. Under 

Blockburger, “[t]he applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction 

constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to 

determine whether there are two offenses or only one is whether each provision 

requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.” Id. at 304. The 
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Supreme Court has said that the proper remedy for multiplicious counts may 

include allowing the jury to consider all counts that are reasonably supported by the 

evidence and addressing any multiple-punishment issues at sentencing by merging 

overlapping convictions. Ball v. United States, 470 U.S. 856, 864–65 (1985) (“If 

upon the trial, the district judge is satisfied that there is sufficient proof to go to the 

jury on both counts, he should instruct the jury as to the elements of each offense. 

Should the jury return guilty verdicts for each count, however, the district judge 

should enter judgment on only one of the statutory offenses.”); e.g., United States 

v. Wright, No. 4:05cr33-RH, 2008 WL 4525153, at *4 n.4 (N.D. Fla. Sept. 27, 

2008) (recognizing this as the proper remedy).  

Under 18 U.S.C. §1343 “[w]hoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of 

false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be 

transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or 

foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose 

of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned 

not more than 20 years, or both.” Congress has provided that the “term ‘scheme or 

artifice to defraud’ includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible 

right of honest services.” Id. §1346.  

According to the Supreme Court, to convict a defendant of honest services 
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fraud, the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the fraudulent 

scheme was “to deprive another of honest services through bribes or kickbacks 

supplied by a third party who had not been deceived.” Skilling v. United States, 561 

U.S. 358, 404 (2010) (emphasis added) (holding as much to avoid constitutional 

vagueness concerns). Traditional wire fraud charges require different proof. 

Compare Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O50.2, Mail Fraud: Depriving 

Another of an Intangible Right of Honest Services (requiring, in element 1, proof of 

a bribe or kickback) with Eleventh Circuit Pattern Instruction O51 Wire Fraud 

(requiring proof of a “plan or course of action intended to deceive or cheat someone 

out of money or property”). Different instructions are not usually necessary for the 

same crime. And a failure to properly instruct a jury on this point leads to reversal. 

See United States v. Aunspaugh, 792 F.3d 1302, 1309 (11th Cir. 2015). 

Defendant Albritton contends that §1343 and §1346 “contain identical 

elements.” ECF 50 at 7. That is not correct.  

The case Mathis v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2243 (2016), explains why that 

is so. Some criminal statutes list various factual means of satisfying a single element 

of an offense, and a jury need not agree which one—say, a knife, gun, bat, or similar 

weapon—was present to convict a defendant of crime involving a “dangerous 

weapon.” Id. at 2249. But some statutes have a different structure; listing multiple 

elements in the alternative, say X or Y, and it would be error to instruct a jury it 
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could convict on the charged offense with element Y if there was only proof of 

element X. See id.; see, e.g., Aunspaugh, 792 F.3d at 1309 (reversing honest services 

fraud conviction because jury was instructed it could convict with no proof of a 

kickback). The crime of honest services fraud, as together defined in §§1341, 1343, 

and 1346, as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Skilling, and as set out in the 

Eleventh Circuit’s pattern instruction, creates an alternative element to traditional 

wire or mail fraud for the intangible right of honest services, which must be proven 

beyond a reasonable doubt with a unanimous jury verdict; the requirement that the 

deprivation of honest services was through bribes or kickbacks.  

Even before Skilling established the proof requirements for honest-services 

fraud, another federal court considered and rejected Defendant’s argument in United 

States v. Ary, No. 05-10053-01-JTM, 2005 WL 2372743, at *1 (D. Kan. Sept. 27, 

2005). The defendant claimed that three counts of honest services fraud were 

multiplicious of three traditional mail and wire fraud counts based on the same two 

mailings and a wire communication. Id. The court noted the advantage in presenting 

the different charges separately. Id.  

 This Court should reach the same conclusion. The honest services fraud 

counts allege—and the government must prove at trial—that Defendant Albritton 

deprived the City of Lynn Haven and its citizens of an intangible right to honest 

services through a bribe or a kickback from a third party. The traditional wire fraud 
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counts in the indictment allege—and the government must prove at trial— that 

Defendant Albritton engaged in a scheme to defraud the City of Lynn Haven of 

certain money and property other than the intangible right of honest services. Each 

such charge “requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.” See 

Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304.  

Accordingly, this Court should deny Defendant Albritton’s multiplicity 

motion.  

III. Counts 29 and 63 

Defendant Anderson moves to dismiss two counts, 29 and 63, as facially 

defective. ECF 49.  

The Sixth Amendment guarantees every defendant the right to be informed 

of the government’s accusation by a legally sufficient indictment. See, e.g., United 

States v. Silverman, 745 F.2d 1386, 1392 (11th Cir. 1984). The standards used in 

judging the sufficiency of an indictment are well established. “The validity of an 

indictment is determined from reading the indictment as a whole and . . . by practical, 

not technical, considerations,” United States v. Perkins, 748 F.2d 1519, 1524 (11th 

Cir. 1984) (quotation omitted), and an indictment must be given “a common sense 

construction.” United States v. McGarity, 669 F.3d 1218, 1235 (11th Cir. 2012). 

“The test is not whether the indictment could have been framed in a more 

satisfactory manner but whether it conforms to minimal constitutional safeguards.” 
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Perkins, 748 F.2d at 1524 (quotation marks omitted). Under this standard, “an 

indictment is sufficient if it, first, contains the elements of the offense charged and 

fairly informs the defendant of the charge against which he must defend, and second, 

enables him to plead an acquittal or a conviction in bar of future prosecutions for 

the same offense.” Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974).  

A motion to dismiss an indictment should be denied if the indictment 

contains “the elements of the offense intended to be charged, and sufficiently 

apprise[s] the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.” United States v. 

McGill, 634 F. App’x 234, 235 (11th Cir. 2015) (quotation marks omitted). “[A]n 

indictment may be short and simple—its allegations are sufficient if they include 

all elements of the offense and briefly describe the facts of the commission of the 

offense.” United States v. deVegter, 198 F.3d 1324, 1330 (11th Cir. 1999) (internal 

citations omitted). To be sufficient, an indictment “need do little more than track 

the language of the statute charged.” United States v. Adkinson, 135 F.3d 1363, 

1375 n.37 (11th Cir. 1998). 

Taking things in reverse order, Count 63 charges Defendant Anderson with 

the following:  

On or about November 18, 2019, in the Northern District of Florida 
and elsewhere, the defendant, 
 
MARGO DEAL ANDERSON, 
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did knowingly and willfully make materially false, fictitious, and 
fraudulent statements and representations in a matter within the 
executive branch of the Government of the United States, that is, the 
defendant falsely stated that: 
 
a. ANDERSON was unaware of the role of Erosion Control 
Specialists (ECS) in the post-Hurricane Michael clean-up of Lynn 
Haven; and 
 
b. ANDERSON was first introduced to David “Mickey” White in 
December 2018 or January 2019, when volunteers were used to clean 
up various streets designated by Lynn Haven as needing some 
attention and clean-up. 
 
These statements and representations were false because, as 
ANDERSON then well knew: 
 
a. ANDERSON was aware that ECS had been contracted by Lynn 
Haven to conduct debris removal and repairs in the City of Lynn 
Haven after Hurricane; 
 
b. ANDERSON was introduced to David “Mickey” White through 
City Manager Michael White shortly after Hurricane Michael and 
requested David “Mickey” White to have ECS clean up her private 
residence. 

 
In violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 1001(a)(2). 

 
ECF 1 at 47-48. The elements of a false statement charge under §1001 are that the 

defendant willfully made a materially false statement in a matter over which a federal 

agency has jurisdiction. See Pattern Jury Instr. 11th Cir. O36, B9.1A (2016); see also 

United States v. Godinez, 922 F.2d 752, 755 (11th Cir. 1991); United States v. 

Hassoun, 477 F. Supp. 2d 1210, 1216 (S.D. Fla. 2007). 

The indictment identifies Defendant Anderson’s statements and their falsity. 

Case 5:20-cr-00028-MW-MJF   Document 55   Filed 01/12/21   Page 25 of 33



26 
 

It also states that she made the statement knowingly and willfully, that the statement 

was material, and that she made it in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive 

branch of the Government of the United States. It then identifies a “practical” and 

common-sense reason, Perkins, 748 F.2d at 1524, why the statement was false. 

These allegations “include all elements of the offense and briefly describe the facts,” 

and are therefore sufficiently definite within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment. 

See deVegter, 198 F.3d at 1330.  

Indeed, this Court has held that a strikingly similar §1001 charge “gives clear 

notice of the substance of the charge.” See United States v. Carter-Smith, 4:18cr76-

RH/MAF, ECF 105 (N.D. Fla. June 20, 2019). Other courts agree. See, e.g., United 

States v. Wright, No. 7:05-CR-12 (HL), 2005 WL 2678354, at *2 (M.D. Ga. Oct. 

20, 2005) (explaining that §1001 charge was sufficient where it tracked the statute 

and provided specific reference to the false statements). This Court should not 

dismiss Count 63. 

Count 29 charges Defendants with committing federal-program fraud in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §666(a)(1)(A). Tracking the statute, the indictment alleges 

that between October 10, 2018, and April 30, 2019, Defendants, as agents of the 

City of Lynn Haven (which had received more than $10,000 in federal funds in a 

certain period) fraudulently obtained more than $5,000 of the City’s money. 

Defendant Anderson says that Count 29 does not adequately inform her of the 
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specific offense charged. ECF 49 at 3.  

The Fifth Circuit addressed a similar issue in United States v. Huff, 512 F.2d 

66 (5th Cir. 1975). There an indictment failed to allege an essential element of the 

charged offense (the correct name of the controlled substance), though a preceding 

charge did. The court said each count of an indictment must be regarded as if it 

were a separate indictment and must stand on its own content without dependence 

for its validity on the allegations of any other count not expressly incorporated.” Id. 

at 69. The court reversed the conviction, explaining that “the challenged count of 

the indictment alleges nothing more than an act which is legal.” Id. 

The Eleventh Circuit extended Huff in United States v. Schmitz, 634 F.3d 

1247 (11th Cir. 2011). Like this case, the defendant argued that §666 counts in the 

indictment, which tracked the statute and alleged all essential elements, failed to 

provide sufficient notice. While the court allowed that “factual allegations in one 

count can inform or provide meaning to the factual allegations in another count,” 

id. at 1262 n.10, the court rejected the government’s attempt to distinguish Huff. Id. 

n.9. The court explained that “[w]hile Huff concerned the omission of an element 

of a crime, the Fifth Circuit's larger analytical point was that each count of an 

indictment must be regarded separately, unless the factual allegations of one count 

are expressly incorporated into another.” Id.; but see id. at 1272 (Black, J., 

concurring in part) (explaining that “Huff establishes that the failure to allege an 
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essential element of the offense cannot be cured by looking to other counts of an 

indictment, but Huff does not require that we read counts in isolation when 

assessing whether an indictment provided sufficient notice of the charges to be 

defended against” and concluding that the “federal funds counts provided sufficient 

notice of the charges to be defended against when read in the context of the 

indictment as a whole”).  

In light of the Eleventh Circuit’s holding in Schmitz, the government intends 

to submit a proposed superseding indictment to the grand jury within the next 30 

days to expressly incorporate the extensive, detailed factual allegations of fraud into 

Count 29, which was inadvertently omitted from the indictment.  

IV. Discovery 

Defendant Albritton’s motion seeks all FD-302 memorializing any statements 

of conspirators that are relevant to the allegations in the indictment against him, and 

any and all Brady or Jencks material in the Government’s possession which has not 

been disclosed to Defendants that include statements of either Defendant Albritton 

or conspirators. ECF 51 at 1-2. Defendant Albritton also requests the Court order the 

Government to provide early disclosure of Jencks material. Defendant Anderson’s 

motion adopts Defendant Albritton’s motion and further requests that the 

Government identify and not merely produce Brady or Jencks material, but identify 

such material in the discovery produced or to be produced. ECF 52 at 1.  
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The Court should deny these requests because statements of conspirators 

concerning statements made to them by a defendant are not statements of a defendant 

and are not discoverable under Rule 16. United State v. Orr, 825 F.2d 1537, 

1541(11th Cir. 1987). Additionally, any FD-302s that contain interviews of 

witnesses are not Jencks statements of the witnesses unless they are substantially 

verbatim, contemporaneously recorded transcripts, or are written and signed by the 

witness or otherwise ratified by the witness. United States v. Jordan, 316 F.3d 1215, 

1255 (11th Cir. 2003). The FD-302s concerning the cooperating conspirators are not 

Jencks statements of the conspirators in this case. Defendant Anderson’s request for 

the government to identify Brady or Jencks material, and not merely produce the 

items in discovery, is without legal basis, and no legal authority in support of such a 

request was provided in Defendant Anderson’s motion.  

Both Defendants have requested discovery and made general requests for 

Rule 16 material and Brady information. The government has provided extensive 

discovery to each Defendant, and downloaded numerous electronic records and 

documents onto hard drives for defense counsel. The government’s discovery 

describes the categories of evidence in the case, and in providing electronic 

discovery, the FBI case agent has provided both defense counsel with an index of 

the categories of the electronically stored information that is located on the discovery 

hard drives. All plea documents and proffer agreements of five conspirators have 
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also been provided to both defense counsel. Further Giglio information for these 

witnesses will be provided to both Defendants. Last month, Defendant Albritton 

requested from the Government all reports and FD-302s relating to interviews of any 

conspirators and requested any statements of Defendant Albritton to conspirators. 

The government rejected these requests since they were beyond Rule 16 discovery. 

Defendants’ requests for any and all FD-302s or reports memorializing 

statements of any conspirator that are relevant to the allegations against the 

defendants are without legal basis. Such statements of conspirators about statements 

made to them by a Defendant are not statements of a defendant and are not 

discoverable under Rule 16. Orr, 825 F.2d at 1541. Additionally, any FD-302s that 

contain interviews of witnesses are not Jencks statements of the witnesses unless 

they are substantially verbatim, contemporaneously recorded transcripts, or are 

written and signed by the witness or otherwise ratified by the witness. Jordan, 316 

F.3d at 1255. The FD-302s concerning the cooperating conspirators are not Jencks 

statements of the conspirators in this case. 

 Defendants’ request for early disclosure of Jencks statements is inappropriate 

in a pretrial motion for discovery. United States v. Harris, 458 F.2d 670,679 (5th 

Cir. 1972); United States v. Campagnuolo, 592 F.2d 852, 858-61 (5th Cir. 1979). 

The Court lacks authority to order early production of Jencks Act material. United 

States v. Liuzzo, 739 F.2d 541, 543-544 (11th Cir. 1984). Local Rule 26.2(E)(4) 
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acknowledges the statutory and case law concerning pretrial disclosure, and states, 

“Jencks Act materials  and witness’ statements shall be provided as required by 

[Rule] 26.2 and 18 U.S.C. §3500. However, the government, and where applicable 

the defendant, is requested to make such materials and statements available to the 

other party sufficiently in advance so as to avoid any delays or interruptions at trial.” 

In accordance with the standard practice of this office, the government will agree to 

provide all Jencks statements of actual government witnesses two weeks before trial 

if Defendants agree to similar reciprocal discovery of Jencks statements of defense 

witnesses. 

 In her motion, Defendant Anderson also requests that all Brady and Jencks 

material known to the Government be identified and not merely produced. 

Defendant Anderson also asserts that Brady and Jencks material produced in 

voluminous electronic files but without identification “does not reasonably comply 

with a defendant’s constitutional rights.” ECF 52 at 1. Other than this bold assertion, 

Defendant Anderson provides no legal authority for such a claim. The government’s 

obligation under Brady is to disclose to the defense information that is material to 

guilt or punishment, but the government has no obligation to characterize the 

disclosure as Brady material.  The government has no obligation to identify the 

discovery obligation pursuant to which discovery is provided. See, e.g., United 

States v. Parks, No. 18-CR-0251-CVE, 2019 WL 4979838, at *3 (N.D. Okla. Oct. 
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8, 2019) (denying a similar motion and explaining that “defendants have not shown 

that Brady or Giglio requires more than the production of potentially exculpatory 

evidence”) (emphasis added); see also Jordan, 316 F.3d at 1254-55 (rejecting a 

claim that the government attempted to avoid its Brady obligations by requiring 

defendants to search the discovery materials for exculpatory material and explaining 

that if the defense needed more time to evaluate voluminous evidence, it should have 

asked for a continuance). 

CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, except with regard to Count 29, the Court should deny the 

pending defense motions. As to Count 29, as explained above, the relief sought is 

likely to be moot in the next 30 days. 

    Respectfully submitted,  

       LAWRENCE KEEFE 
       United States Attorney 
 
       /s/ Stephen M. Kunz              
       STEPHEN M. KUNZ 
       ANDREW J. GROGAN 
       Assistant United States Attorneys 
       Florida Bar No. 322415 
       Florida Bar No. 85932 
       111 North Adams St., 4th Floor 
       Tallahassee, FL 32301 
       (850) 942-8430 
       stephen.kunz@usdoj.gov 
       andrew.grogan@usdoj.gov 
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